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BEFORE THE :
MEDICAL BOARD OF CALIFORNIA
DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS
' STATE OF CALIFORNIA

In the Matier of the Accusation Against:
Case No. 05-2013-229574
KIANSI BLAISE BONIL, M.D,, 7
Physician’s and Surgeon’s Certificate OAH No. 2016070280
‘No. A45536,

Respondent,

PROPOSED DECISION

Howard W. Cohen, Administrative Law Judge (ALT), Office of Administrative
Hearings (OAH), State of California, heard this matter on February 6 through 9, 2017, in Los
Angeles.

Chris Leong, Deputy Attorney General, répresented complainant Kimberly
Kirchmeyer, Executive Director of the Medical Board of California {Board), Department of
Consumer Affairs (Department), State of California,

Respondent Kiansi Blaise Boni, M.D., appeared and represented himself.

Oral and documentary evidence was received. The record was held open to allow
further submissions. Complainant submitted an additional document, which was marked and
admitted as part of Exhibit 4, Respondent made no additional submissions.

The record was closed and the matter was submitted on Febmary 21, 2017,
Protective Order

Complainant moved for a protective order sealing exhibits to protect confidential
information concerning third parties; respondent made no objection. The ALY issued a
- prolective order dated March 22, 2017, Redaction of those documents subject o the
protective order, to obiscure confidential information, was not praclicable and would niot have
provided adequa privacy protection. Those exhibits shall remain under seal and shall not be
opened, except by order of the Board, by OAH, or by a reviewing court. The ALY ordered
that every court reporter refer in the hearing transeript to vespondent’s patients by initials
only. '




FACTUAL FINDINGS
Jurisdiction

L Complainant filed the Accusation in her official capacity. Respondent limely
filed a notice of defense,

2. The Board issued Physician and Surgeon’s Certificate No. A45536 to respondent
on November 28, 1988. That certificate is scheduled to expire on March 31, 2018.

Respondent s Certification Siatus from 2012 1o 2014

3. From July 10, 2008, through August 13, 2013, respondent’s address of record,
acwrdmg to Board records, was Kush Medical Group, at 9061 Magnolia Avenue in Riverside.
From Augus;t 13. 2013, to the present, respondent’s address of record is PO, Box 6299 in
Torrance,’

4, Respondent and complainant agree that there is no building with an address of
9061 Magnotia Avenue. Complainant offered no documentation o show that respondent ever.
identified his address as 9061 Magnolia Avenue, Respondent testified that Kush Medical Group
was located at 9661 Magnolia Avenue. Respondent testified that he telephoned the Board to
inform the Board that it was using an incorrect dddress; in 2013, however, Board investigators
went 10 9661 Magnolia Avenue and found no Kush Medical Group located there. Respondent
did not send a written address correction o the Board, and offered no evidence to corroborale
the telephone call e claims lo have made,

5. On March 13, 2012, the Depattment mailed respondent a 30-day notice of intent
to suspend his certificate on the ground that he bad violated a child or family support judgment
or order of the Los Angeles County Departmnent of Child Support Services, a tocal child support
agency. By a Suspension Notice dated April 18, 2012, the Deparlment suspended respondent’s
certificate effective April 17, 2012, The Suspension Notice recited that “the suspension will
remain in effect urdil we receive a valid ‘release’ form from the Local Child Support Agencyl[] .

. certifying that you are in compliance with a judgment or order of child or family support.”
(sz 8.) The suspension ended on August &, 2013, :

6. The Department mailed both the 30-day notice of intent and the actual
Suspension Notice to respondent al the nonexistent 9061 Magnolia Avenue. Correspondence
sent to that invalid strect address was returned as not deliverable. (See, e.g., Ex. 11, pp. 144,
160.) Responden, nevertheless, appears o have received notice of the suspension at some lime

' At some point in 2013, the Board was aiso aware ol respondent’s business address at
L.A. Urgent Care on Hobson Way in Oxnand, reflected on prescriptions respondent issued,
and respondent’s home address in Camarillo, where respondent was inlerviewed and
arrested, _




prior to the investigation in this maiter. When Senior Deputy Scott Hardy of the Ventura
Couanty Sheriff's Depariment (VCSDY) mentioned the suspension in an interview with
respondent on June 20, 2013, respondent acknowledged that he knew aboul the status of his
certificile due to failure to pay child support. He maintained that his certificate had not been
suspended, however, but had been what he termed “denied.” (See, e.g., Ex. 27, p. 369.)
Respondent was also aware he was not allowed 1o practice medicine. (Jd. at p. 371)

7. While the Department’s suspension order was in effect, on July 8, 2013, in
People v. Boni, Superior Court of California, Ventura County, case number 2013021185, in
which respondent was charged with three felony counts, the court set respondent’s bail at
$50,000 and ordered respondent to sign a conditional *QOwn Recognizance Release,” a
condition being that respondent will *not practice medicing without a valid license issued in
- California.” (Ex. 12.) The order was removed on August 13, 2013; the Department’s suspension
had ended five days earlier. thn respondent submitted his cettification renewal fecs, he was
sent a pocket license.

The Board’s Investigation and Complainant's Allegations

8. In early 2013, the Board received complainis that respondent was practicing
medicine while his physician’s and surgeon’s certificate was suspended. Julie Escat and
William Boyd, irvestigators with the Health Quality Investigation Unit (HQIU) of the
Department®s Division of Investigation, investigated respondent.

9. Raobert Davidson, # Senior Depuly in the VCSD, also began a criminal
investigation of respondent in May 2013 based on an unconfirmed third party complaint that
respondent was prescribing controlled substances illegaily. Deputy Davidson determined that
respondent’s certificate had been suspended. Fle then twice visited respondent’s medical office
undercover, posing as patient “*Troy McKinney” (patient TM).

10. Ou his first visit, on June 14, 2013, patient TM sat in the waiting area and then
walked to the examination room; respondent observed the patient. Once in the examination
room, patient T told respondent that he suffered from lower back pain. Patient T™M
volunteered that he had found Norco effective in the past and that Vicodin had caused him
stemach problems, Respondent told patient TM that he did not want him 10 become addicted to
drugs. Respondent’s nurse took patient TM’s blood pressure and weight. Respondent tistened 1o
patient TM’s upper chest with a stethoscope, checking for myocarditis (a heart complication
from beroin addiction), and checked his armus for necdle marks. Respondent conducted no other
physical examination, did not mquire inio the history of patient TM's back pain, did not inguire
into the severity of the pain, did not ask for-any prior medical records, and did not discuss
patient TM’s prior drug use or whether patient TM had any addiction issues. Patient TM paid
$150 for the visit end provided a urine sample. Respondent prescribed Subutex, a Schedule 11
controlled substance, and Baclofen, a muscle relaxant. Respondent called the prescription into a
pharinacy across the street. Patient TM picked up the medications.

L1, Deputy Davidson then asked Senior Deputy Scolt Hardy of the V(T,SO to ask
rexpcmdcrz{ whether he knew his license was suspended and to record the conversation, Deputy
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Hardy and another depuly visited respondent’s office on June 20, 2013, Respondent dcmt,d that
his license was suspended, claiming instead that it was “denied” for failure to pay child snpport.
He did not explain the difference between “suspended™ and “denied,” and maintained that,
despite the “denial.” he was allowed to practice medicine and issue prescriptions. Sergeant
Victor Fazio authored a seport defailing the contents of the recording made by Deputy Hardy.
Resgpondent admitred having seen his license status, posted on the Board’s websile, stating *“No
practice [was] permitted.” (Ex. 22, p. 309.) Respondent also acknowledged that he was
receiving mail from the Board at his medical office at 650 Hobson Way in Oxnard.

12, On June 26, 2013, Deputy Davidson retburned to respondent’s office as patient
T™ without an appointment. Patient TM told the receptionist he wanted a follow-up because
the Subutex was ineffective. The receptionist walked patient TM to an exam room. Respondent
approached the entrance of the room and asked the receptionist why patient TM was there. The
receptionist old respondent. thal patient T™ said his medications were not working,. Respondent
remained in the doorway, spoke to patient TM, and prescribed methocarbamol, a muscle
~ relaxant, and Seboxone, a Schedule 1T controlled substance used to treat opioid addiction.
Respondent told patient TM to pick-up the new medications at the pharmacy across the street,
(Ex. 22, pp. 318-319.)

3. Onl (_Lly 3, 2013, Deputy Davidson authorized a search warrant for respondent’s
office at 630 Hobson Way and for respondent’s home in Camarillo, and execuied the search at
respondent’s home. Respondent again acknowledged that his license had been “denied.”™ (Ex..
22,p.315) '

14, Complainant alleges seven causes for discipline against respondent: for gross.
negligence (First Cause for Discipline); repeated negligent acts (Second Cause for Discipline);
failure to maintain adequate and accurate records (Third Cause for Discipline); prescribing
controlled substances without a physical exam (Fowrth Cause for Discipline); unlawful practice
of medicine (Fifta Cause for Discipline); excessive preseribing (Sixth Cause for Discipline);
and unprofessional conduct (Seventh Cause for Discipline).

Expert Witness

15, Complainant offered the testimony of Timothy A. Munzing, M.D., (o establish
the standard of care [or the realment of the patient in this case. Dr. Munzing has been a staffl
family physician at Southern California Permanente Medical Group (Kaiser Permarnenie) in
Santa Ana, California for the past 30 years, He has been the Program Director of the Kaiser
Permanente Orange Counly Family Medicine Residency Program since 1988, and is a Clinical
- Professor at the. University of California, Irvine, Collepe of Medicine. He received his medical
degree from the University of California, Los Angeles, School of Medicine in 1982 and
completed a family practice intemnship and residency at Kaiser Foundation Hospital in 1985, He
is licensed in Caiifm'nia dncl' h‘l‘S bmﬂ a dipl()mdte n'f the American Hoard of Ane%theqioibgy
- has been a dip[omalc of the Ammcan Board of Famdy Practice since 1985 and a Fellow ()_f the
American Academy of Family Physicians since 1988, and he is a member of the American Pain




Society and the Acvademy of Integrative Pain Managemerit, among other associations. He has
published and lectured on opioid prescribing and monitoring. Dr. Munzing is a qualified
medical evaluator for the Board and is a medical expert reviewer consultant for the Drug
Enforcement Administration Tactical Diversion Squad. He has provided medical expert
consultations for the Federal Bureau of Investigation, the VCSD, and the U.S. Attorney’s
Office, among other agencies,

16.  Dr. Munzing was qualified 1o testify as an expert on the standard of care in this
case. :

17, Respondent did not offer the icsiimmiy of an expert witngss.
Stendard of Care for ithe Treatment of "' Troy McKenzie,” or Patient TM

18, Dr. Munzing testified that the standard of care is what a reasonable trained
physician in the commupity would do under similar circumstances.

19.  Dr. Munzing reviewed respondent’s medical file for patient TM, examined on
June 14 and June 26, 2013, recordings of those two visits, Department and Board
correspondence to respondent, and recordings and transcripts of Deputy Hardy's conversation
with respondent, among other documents. In his expert report dated February 26, 2015, and a
supplemental expert report dated December 7, 2016, both of which Dr. Munzing adopted in his
testimony at hearing, Dr. MunZing found that mv.puﬁdcnt had departed from the standard of care
in the following ways,

20.  Respondent failed to perform and document an adequate history and physical
examination prior (o prescribing conlrolled substances, an extieme departure from the standuard
of care. Respondent did not obtain information about patient T™’s past and current medications
and treatments, behavioral or psychiatric issues, and degree of pain. Respondent did not
perform a gencral physical examination or a detailed examination of patient TM’s lower back.
Respondent did not check patient TMs reflexes or examine his range of motion. Respondent
did not utilize pain or functional scales, did not obtain past medical records, and did not access a
Controited Substance Utilization Review and Evaluation System (CURES) report.for patient
T™. Respondent testified that he believed patient TM might be a drug addict, but ordered no
blood tests. Respondent had patient TM provide a urine sample but failed to document whether
the sample was analyzed. Respondent concluded patient TM was secking controlled substances
but failed to perform or document an appropriate inguiry into whether that conclusion was
supported. Respondent did not document whether the back pain was chronic or acute; if
chronic, respondent should have oblained images, but he did nol. Regpondent’s progress notes
documenting both visits were minimal and insufficient, with poor legibility. There was no
* dotumentation that the risks and benefits of controlled substances were discussed with the
patient, ot that he had obtained the patient’s informed consent for the prescription of controlled
substances. There was documentation of a discussion of subjecls, mc]udmg diet, exercise, and
smoking, that was nol reflected on the patzcnt visit recordings.




21, Respondent failed to document an adequate history and physical exam while
prescribing controlled substances on a frequent basis for a long time period, and failed (o
document discussing the major potential risks of the confrolled substances; an exirene
departure from the standard of care. :

22.  Respondent practiced medicine while his certificate was suspended, an extreme.
“departure from the standard of care,

Characier Evidence

7 23.  Respondent offered no character witness testimony and no character reference
fetters.

Mitigation and Relabilitation

24.  Respondent has a general practice and performs pain management services for
his patients; at relevant {imes he practiced in Riverside and Oxnard, California. Respondent
testified that his treatment of *Troy McKenzie” was appropriate for the conditions he presented
with, and that his observations of patient TM’s gait, posture, and behavior were sufficient to
warraid, issuing TM a prescription for a controlled substance. His testimony was, for the most
part, not persuasive, in light of the expert testimony of Dr. Munzing regarding the stundard of
care.

25.  Respondent testified that his patient examinations differ from those performed by
other physicians, His findings are based primarily on his visual observation and his nurse’s
visual observation of his patients. He testificd that he does not wasie time with a patient who is
faking pain and faking his or her history, and who has no insurance, I make a quick and
effective diagnosis, like this [snaps {ingers], based on my expertise.” Because some of his
~ patients have no insurance, respondent “cuts some corners to reach the right diagnosis.” Hig
patients cannot atford to pay for imaging and specialist examinations, Nevertheless, despite
treating “difficult patients” and having the highest patient load in Oxnard, respondent testified,
“1 rarely make mistakes.” In 29 years of praclice, from 1988 Lo today, according to respondent,
no patient has complained about him and there has been no patient morbidity or mortality.
Respondent testified he would make no changes to his practice. He believes he makes decisions
sppropriate to the needs of his client population, which is poor and uninsured. Respondent
practices what he termed offensive, not defensive, medicine; it is practical, efficient, and cheap.
Offensive medicine, respondent testificd, involves taking a limited history and performing an
examination focused on only relevant positive and negative findings, and then making quick
and cheap diagnoses.

20.  Patient TM, respondent believed, was displaying drug-seeking behavior,
Respondent observed the patient leaning in his chair in the reception area, filling out documents,
and walking to the examination room. Patient TM was not sweating, anxious, or apprehensive,
and was “to0 well-dressed for a pain patient;” respondent testified that pain patients do not
usually care about their appearance. Respondent checked the patient’s heart for signs of heroin
addiction and his arms for needle tracks, He made patient T™M walk and'sit, and observed
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whether he appeared to be compensating for pain. Respondent testified that he concluded
patient T™M was either an undercover agent or was seeking drugs. Respondent did not want to
preseribe Noreo or Soma, but, respondent testified, he feared that if he refused 1o prescribe any
medication, the patient might buy opioids on the street and perhaps overdose and die, for which
respondent would be responsible. Respondent instead prescribed Suboxone to alleviate patient
TM’s pain without intoxicating him. Respondent testified that this is “the only way I can triage
the patients with drug-secking behavior from the real ones.” :

27.  Respondent complained that the Board did not send notice that his cerlificate was
suspended to the right address, and then, when the notice was returned as non-deliverable, the
Board did not send it to respondent’s home address or post office box. Respondent denied
telling Deputy Hardy that be knew his license had been suspended or denied. Respondent
testified that Depuly Hardy had lied about their conversation and that the YCSD had altered or
Tabricated evidence. This testimony was unsupported and not credible. Respondent testified that
a pharmacy woulkld not fill his prescriptions it his certificate were inactive. Respondent offered
in evidence a document entitled *Doctor Record Maintenance;” he testified that all pharmacies
have access to the database reflecting information appearing on this document. The document
which is undated, shows respondent’s status as “active.” Without more, this document is
insufficient 10 ovarcome convincing evidence that respondent’s certificale was suspended when
he prescribed controlled substances to palient TM. Respondent testified that the Board would
have returned his certificile. fees iF his certificate were inactive, instead of sending him a pocket
license, Deputy Davidson testified that he believed the pocket card license was sent o
respondent by mistake, when respondent paid certificate renewal fees online. The pocket card,
which was not in evidence, would be insufficient to establish that respondent’s certi ficate was
not suspended when he treated patient TM.

28,  Respondent’s professed methods of taking patient histories, performing physical
examinations, and rendering diagnoses, which vespondent adhered to in his examination and
treaiment of patient T™, depart from {be standard of care, as established by Dr. Munzing,
Respondent’s record-keeping praclices, too, were not defensible using the applicable standard
ol care, as respondent’s notes were ingomplete or illegible.

29.  There was no evidence on this record that respondent has changed his history and-
physical examination practices or his recordkeeping practices or that he intends to do so.
Respondent insisted at hearing that his method of assessing his patients’ conditions, by
observation of their posture and movement, with the assistance of his nwrse, and by asking &
few questions and checking for track marks and heart condition, is adequate and well-suited to

the patient population he serves.

i
i
I
i




LEGAL CONCLUSIONS
Burden of Proof

1. The rigorous educational, training, and tesling requirements for obiaining a
physician's license justify imposing on complainant a burden of proof of clear and convineing
evidence. (Bvid. Code, § 115; see Eitinger v. Bd. of Medical Quality Asstrance (1982) 135
Cal. App.3d 853, 856, Imports Performance v. Dept. of Consumer Affairs, Bur. of Automotive
ﬁ?apmz (2011) 201 Cal.App.4th 911.)

Applicable Authority

2. The Board's highest priority is o protect the public. (Bus & Prol. Code,
§ 2229.)* The Board is responsible for enforcing the disciplinary provisions of the Medical
Practice Act (§ 2004, subd. (a)), and may take action against a licensee for unprofessional
conduct, which includes gross negligence, repeated negligent acts, incompetence, violations of
the Medical Practice Aci, prescribing dangerous drugs without an appropriate prior examination
and a medical indication, and a failure to maintain adequate and accurate medical records.
(§8 2234, subds. (1), (b) {c), & (d), 2242, 2266.)

3. A {:eruficatcd practitioner who ig found guilty under the Medical Practice Act
may have his or her certificate revoked or suspended or placed on probation and be required to
pay the costs of probation monitoring, or “other action taken in relation to discipline” as the
Board deems preper. (§ 2227.)

4, In selecting a method of treatment, skillful members of the medical profession
may differ: however, the practitioner must keep within the “recognized and approved methods.”
(Callohan v. Hahzemann Hospiial {1934) 1 Cal. 2d 447.)

5. A lieensee whose certificate is suspended “shall not engage in the practice of
meclicine during he (erm of such suspension;” practicing medicine during suspension
constitutes a public offense and, among other 1hmus, shall vesult in revocation of the certificate
(§8 2052, subds. \‘1) (c) 2306.) :

Ceuse for Disciptine

6. Cause exists w suspend or revoke respondent’s license under section 2234,
subdivision (b), in that clear and convincing evidence established that he committed gross
negligence during his care, treatmenl, and management of patient T™, as set forth in Factoal
Findings 3 through 29.

i

3 e . g . -
* Further statutory references are to the Business and Professions Code.




7. Cause exists to suspend or revoke respondent’s license under seclion 2234,
subdivision (), in that clear and convincing evidence established that he committed repeated
negligent acts during his care, treatment, and management of Patient TM, as set forth in Factual
Findings 3 through 29. :

8. Cauge exists to suspend or revoke respondent’s license under section 2266, in
that clear and convincing evidence established that he failed to prepare and maintain adequale
and accurate mecical records relating lo the provision of care to Patient TM, as set forth in
Tactual Findings 3 through 29,

9. Cause exists to suspend or revoke respondent’s license under section 2242, in
that clear and convincing evidence established that he prescribed controlled substances without
performing an appropriate physical examination, as set forth in Factual Findings 3 through 29.

10.  Cause exists to suspend or revoke respondent’s license under sections 2052,
subdivision (#), and 2306, in that clear and convincing evidence established that he practiced
medicine, and prescribed controlied substances and dangerous drugs to Patient TM, while his
certificate was suspended, as set forth in Factual Findings 3 through 29,

11, In view of all the evidence, including evidence of respondent’s practicing
medicine while his certificate was suspended, of his inadequate examinations and
recordkeeping, and of his belief that there is no reason (o change the way he practices 1o
conform to the standards of the profession, complainant has clearly and convincingly
established that respondent cannot practice medicine in a safe and proper manner, The purpose
of a disciplinary action such as this one is {o protect the public, and not 1o punish the licensee,
(Camacho v. Yonde (1979) 95 Cal. App.3d 161, 164; Small v. Smith (1971) 16 Cal. App.3d 450,
457.} In this case revocation is necessary and mandated by law, to protect the public.

ORDER

Physician’s and Surgeon's Certificate No, A45536, issued to respondent Kiansi Blaise
Boni, M.D., is hereby revoked.

DATED; March 23, 2017

DosuSignad by:
@tﬁWMdf 'Zf}. gﬂA—M

s DAMCHBABCHGACS.

HOWARD W. COHEN
Administrative Law Judge
Office of Administrative Hearing




Lt

Rt T vl B S R~ W ¥, SR -

10

12
13
14
15
16

vl

18

20
21
2
23
24

26
27
28

FILED

STATE OF CALIFORNIA
, MEDICAL BOARQ OF CALIFORNIA
Kamara D, HaRR}S SACRAMENTO Yon 1AM 1l
Altorney General of California ™ R dm’d < ANALYST

E. A, JONES IIT
Supervising Depuly Atiomey General
CHR18 LEONG
Deputy Attorngy General
State Bar No. 141079
California Department of Justice
300 So. Spring Street, Suite 1702
Los Angeles, CA 90013 .
Telephone: (213) 8767776
Faecsimile: (213)897-1071
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BEFORE THE
MEDICAL BOARD OF CALIFORNIA
DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS

STATE OF CALIFORNIA
MiIn the Ma“t&:.r of the Accusmim Against: Case No. 05-2013-229574
I){MNSI BI,:AISE BONI, M.D.,
f&ﬁﬁi ﬁfmmm 90504 ACCUSATION
Physician’s and Surgeon’s Cerlificate
No. A45536,
'Réspuudﬁnt‘
‘Compiainar’lt alleges:
PARTIES
1. Kimberly Kircimmymj (Complainant), brings this Accusa—tion solely in her

official capacity as Executive Director of the Medical Board of California (Board).

2. On or about November 28, 1988, the Board is_sucd Physician's and

Surgeon’s Certificate No. A45536 fo Kiansi Blaise Boni, M.DD. {“Respondent™). The Physician’s

and Surgeon’s Certificaie was i effect at all times relevant to the charges brought herein and,
uniess renewed, expires o March 31, 2016. |

I

1

i

ACCUSATION NO, (05-2013-229574)
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JURISDICTION

3. This Accusation is brought before the Board under the authority of the
following sections of the Business and Professions Code (Code), Gc)vermntj:nt Cdde, and Health
and Safety Code, |

4, Section 2004 of the Code states:

- "The board shall have the responsibility for the following:

"(a) The enforcement of the disciplinary and eriminal provisions of the Medical Practice
Act.

"(b) The administration and hearing of disciplinary actions.

"(¢) Carrying out disciplinary actions appropriate to findings made by a panel or an
administrative law judge. ‘

*(d} Suspending, revoking, or otherwise limiting certificates after the conclusion of
disciplinary actions.

(e} Reviewing the quality of medical practicé carried out by physician and surgeon
certificate holders under the jurisdiction of the board. |

“(f) Approving undergraduate and graduate medical education programs.

"(g) Approving clinical clerkship and special programs and hospitals fér the programs in.
subdivision (f). |

"(h) Issuing licenses and certificates under the board's jurisdiction.

“(1) Administering the board's continuing medical education program.” '

5. Section 2052 of the Code states:

" (a) Notwithslanding Section 146, any person who practices or attempts fo practice, or who
aclver_lises or holds himself or hersell out as practicing, airy system or mode of freating the sick or
afflicted in this state, or who diagnoses, treats, operates for, or prescribes for any ailment,
blemish, deformity, disease, disfigurement, disurder, injury, or other physical or mental ;:ond_iti_ox1
of any person, without having at the time of so doing a Vaiid,rum'evoked, or unsuspended
certificate as provided in this chapter or without being authorized 1o perform the act pursuant to a
certificate obtained in accordance with some other provision of law is guilty of a public offense,

2
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punishable by a fine not exceeding ten thousand dollars ($10,000), by imprisonment pursuant to
subdivision (h) of Section 1170 of the Penal Code, by imprisonment in 4 county jail not
exceeding one year, or by both the fine and either imprisonment.

(b} Any person who conspires with or aids or abets another to comrnit any act deseribed in.

subdivision (a) is guilty of a public offense, subject to the punishment described in that

subdivigion,
(¢} The remedy provided in this section shall not preclude any other remedy prbvided by
law.” | |
6. Section 2227 of the Code states:

"(a) A licensee whose matter has been heard by an-administrative law judge of thé Medical
Quality Hearing Panel as designated in Section 11371 of the Government Code, or whose default
has been entered, and who is found guilty, or who has entered into a sti pulation for disciplinary
action with the board, may, in accordance with the provisions of this chapter:

"(1) Have his or her license revoked upon order of the board.

"(2) Have his or her right to practice éuspended for a period not to exceed one year upon
order of the board. | | |

"(3) Be placed on probation and be required to pay the costs of probation monitoring upon
order of the board. '

"(4) Be publicly reprimanded by the board. The public reprimand may include a
requirement that the licensee complete relevant educational courses approved by the board.

*(5) Have any other action taken in relation to discipling as part of an order of probation, as
the board or an administrative law judge may deem proper. |

"(b) Any matter heard pursuant to subdivision (a), except for warning letters, medical
review or advisory conferences, professional compelency examinations, continuing education
activities, and cost reimbursement associated therewith that are agreed to with the board and
successfully completed by the licensee, or other maiters made confidential or privileged by
existing law, is deemed public, and shall be made available 1o the public by the board 'pursuaﬁi 1o

Section 803,1."

ACCURATION NO. (05-2013-229574)
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7. Section 2234 of the Code, states:

"The board shall take action against any licensee who is charged with unprofessional
conduct. In addition to other provisions of this article, unprofessional conduet includes, but is not
limited to, the following:

"(a) Violating or atfempting to violate, direct]y‘ or indirectly, assisting in or abetting the
violation of, or congpiring to violate any provision of this chapter.

"() Gross negligence.

"{c) Repeated negligenl acts. To be repeated, there must be two or more negligent acts or
omissions. An initial negligent act or omission followed by a separate and distinet departure from
the applicable standard of care shall constitule repeated negligent acts.

‘(1) An initial negligent diagnosis followed by an act or omission medically appropriate
for that negligent diagnosis of the patient shall constitute a cingle negligent act,

"(2) When the standard of care requites a change in the diagnosis, act, or omission that
constitutes the negligent act described it paragraph (1), including, but not limited to, a
reevaluation of the diagnosis or a change in treatment, and the licensee's conduct departs from the
applicable standard of care, cach departure constitutes a separate and distinct breach of the
standard of eare. '

"(d) Incompetence.

"(e) The commission of any act involving dishonesty or corruption which is subsiantially

related to the gualifications, functions, or duties of a physician and surgeon.

1y Any action or conduct which would have warranted the denial of a cestificate.

"{(g) The practice of medieine from this state inte another state or ca untry without meeting
the legal requirements of that state or country for-the practice of medicine. Section 2314 shall not
apply Lo this subdivision. This subdivision shall become operative upon the implementation of the
proposed registration program described in Section 2052.5.

"(h) The repeated faihure by a certificate im.lder, in the absence of good cause, {o attend and

parficipate in an interview by the board. This subdivision shall enly af)ply to a certificate holder

~who is the subject of an investigation by the board.”

4
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8. Section 2242 of the Code, slates:

*(a) Preseribing, dispensing, or furnishing dangerous drugs as defined in Section 4022
without an appropriate prior examination and » medical indication, constitutes unprofessional
conduet,

"(b) No licensee shall be found to have committed unprofessional conduct within the
meaning of this section if| at the time the drugs were prescribed, dispensed, or furnished, any of
the following applies:

(1} The licensee was a designated physician and surgeon or podiatrist serving in the
absence of the patient’s physician and surgeon or podiatrist, as the case may be, and if the drugs
were prescribed, dispensed, or furnished only as necessary {o maintain the patient until the return
of his or her praciitioner, but in any case no longer than 72 hours.

"(2) The licensee transmitted the order for the drugs to a registered nurse or o a licensed
vocational nurse in an inpatient facility, and if both of the following conditions exist;

(A) The practitionér had consulted with the registered nurse or licensed vocational nurse

who had reviewed the patient's records.

"(B) The practitioner was designated as the practitioner to serve in the absence of the
patient's physician and surgeon or podiatrist, as the case may be.

*(3) The licensee was a designated practitioner serving in the absence of the patient's
physician and surgeon or podiaitist, as the case may be, and wasg in possession of or had utilized
the patient's records and ordered the renewal of a medjeally indicated prescription for an amount
not exceéding the original prescription in strength or amount or for more than one refill.

“4) The licensee was acting in accordance with Section 1205_ 82 of the Health and Safety
Code."

9. Section 2266 of the Code states: “The failure of a physician and surgeon to
maintain adequate and accurate records relating to the provision of services to their patients
constitutes unprofessional conduct.”

10. Section 725 of the Code states:

"(a) Repeated acts of clearly excessive prescribing, farnishing, dispensing, or admiﬂiéiering

5
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of drugs or treatment, repeated acts of clearly excessive use of diagnostic procedures, or repeated
acts of clearly excessive use of diagnostic or treatment facilities as determined by the standard of
the community of licensees is unprofessional conduet for a physician and surgeon, dentis,

podiatrist, psychologist, physical therapist, chiropractor, optometrist, speech language

pathologist, or audiologist.

"(b) Any person who engages in repeated acts of clearly excessive preseribing or
administering of drugs or treatment is guilty of a misdemeanor and shall be punished by 2 fine of
1101: less than one hundred dollars ($100) nor more than six hundred dollars ($600), or by
imprisonment for a term of not less thar 60 days nor more than 180 days, or by both that fins and
imprisonment.

"(¢) A practitioner who has a medical basis for prescribing, furnishing, dispensing, or
administering dangerous drugs or prescription controlled substances shall not be subject to
disciplinary action or prosecution under this section,

"(d) No physician and surgeon shall be subject fb disciplinary action pursuant to this section
for treating intractable pain in compliance with Section 2241.5.7

11.  Section 2241 of the Code states:

“lay A ph}réic'ian and surgeon may prescribe, dispense, or administer prescription drugs,
including prescription controlled substances, to an addict under his or her treatment for a purpose
other than maintenance on, or detoxification from, prescription drugs or controlled substances.

“(b) A physician and surgeon may preseribe, dispense, or administer preseription drings or
prescription controlled substances to an addict for purposes of maintenance on, or detoxification
from, prescription drugs or controlled substances only as set forth in subdivision (¢) or in Sections
11215, 11217, 11217.5, 1}721_8, 11219, and 11220 of the Health and Safety Cacie,r Nothing in this
subdivision shall authorize a physician and surgeon to prescribe, dispense, or administer
dangerous drugs or conirolled substances o a person he or she knows or reasonably believes is
using or will use the drugs or substances for a nonmedical purpose. |

“(¢) Notwithstarnding subdivision (a), pi‘eseripti()la drugs or controlled substances may also
be administered or applied by a physician and sur.geo‘n; of by a registered murse acting under his

6
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or ber tastruction and supervision, under the following circumstances:

“(1) Emergency treatment of a patient whose addiction is complicated by the presence of
incurable disease, acute accident, illness, or injury, or the infirmities attendant upon age. -

o *(2) Treatment of addicts in siate-licensed institutions where the patient is kept under
restraint and control, or in city or county jails or state prisons.

“(3) Treatment of addicts as provided for by Section 11217.5 of the Health and Safety
Code. |

“(d) (1) For purposes of this section and Section 2241.5, "addict” means a person whose
actions a;fe characterized by craving in combination with one or more of the following:

“(A) Impaired control over drug use.

“(B) Compulsive use,

“(C) Continued use despite harm. -

“(2) Notwithstanding paragraph (1), a person whose drug-seeking behavior is primarily
due to the inadequate control of pain is not an addict within the meaning of this secﬁon or Section
2241.57

12, Section 224{,5 of the Code states:

““(a} A physician and surgeon may prescribe for, or dispense or administer to, a ?erson
under. his or her treatment for a medical condition dangerous drugs or prescription controlled
substances for the treatment of pain or a condition causing pain, inc!‘udingl, but not limited to,
intractable pain, |

“(b) No physician and surgeon shall be subject to disciplinary action for prescribing,
dispensing, or administering dangerous drugs or preseription controlled substances in accordance
with this section.

*(¢} This section shall not alfect the power of the board 1o take any action deseribed in
Section 2227 against éph‘ysic:izm and surgeon who does any of the following;

“(1) Violates 'subdivisian (b, {¢), or {d)of Section 2234 regard‘mg gross negligence,
repeated negligent acts, or incompetence, |

“(2) Violates Section 2241 regarding treatment of an addict.

7
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“(3) Violates Section 2242 regarding performing an appropriate prior examination and the
existence of a medical indication for preseribing, dis;;eésing, or firnishing dangerous drugs.

“(4) Violates Section 2242.1 regarding preseribing on the Internet. _

“(5) Fails to keep complete and accurate records of purchases and disposals of substances
listed in the California Uniform Controlled Substances Act (Division 10 (commenecing with
Section 11000) of the Health and Saféty Code) or controlled substances scheduled in the federal
Comprehensive Drug Abuse Prevention and Control Act of 1970 (21 U.S.C. §§ 801, et seq.), or
pursumﬁ to the federal Comprehensive Drug Abuse Prevention and Conirol Act of 1970. A
physician and surgeon shall keep records of his ot her purchases and disposals of these controlled
substances or dangerous drugs, including the date of purchase, the date and records of the sale or
disposal of the drugs by the physiciaiu anct surgeon, the name and address of the person receiving
the drugs, and the reason for the disposal or the dispensing of the drugs to the person, and shall
otherwise comply with all siatérecmdkeeping requirements for controlled substances.

“(6) Writes false or fictitious prescriptions for controlled substances listed in the California
Uniform Controlled Substdances Act or scheduled in the federal Comprehensive Drug Abuse
Prevention and Control Act of 1970.

“(N Pl’ﬁts\rt;ribeS, administers, or dispenses in violation of this c]ﬁpten ot in violation of
Chapter 4 (commencing with Section 11150) or Chapler 5 (commencing with Seetion 11210) of
Division 10 of the Health and Safety Code. |

| ~%(d) A physician and surgeon shall exercise reasonable care in determining whether a
particular patient or condition, or the complexity of a palient's treatment, including, but not
Jimited to, a current or recent pattern of drug abuse, requires consultation with, or referral to, a
more. Qneﬂified specialist, ‘ N

“(c) Nothing in this section shall prohibit the governing body of a hospital from taking
dizciplinary actions against a physician and surgeon pursuant to Sections 809.05, 809.4, and
809.5."

1
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INTRODUCTION
13, This Accusation involves prescriptions for medications regulated by the
Cdmprehensive Drug Abuse Prevention and Control Act, passed into law in 1970, Title I of this

law, the Controlled Substances Act, is the legal foundation of narcotics enforcement in the United |

| States. The Controlled Substances Act regulates the manulacture, possession, movement, and

distribution of drugs in our cou'ntry. The Controlled Substances Acl places all drugs into one of
five schedules, or classifications, and is controlled by the Department of Justice and the
Department of Health and Human Services, including the Federal Drug Administration. In 1972,
California followed the federal lcad by adopting the Uniform Cosntrolled Substance Act. (Gov.
Code, § 11153 et seq.) |

CONTROLLED SUBSTANCES AND DANGEROUS DRUGS

14, Subutex {Buprenorphine) is a dangerous drug pursuant to Code section

4022, itis a Food and Drug Administration (FDA) Schedule C-111 controlled substance pursnant

to Code of Federal Regulations section 1308.13{e)(2)(i). 1t is used to relieve opioid dependence.

15.  Suboxone {Buprenorphine and Naloxone) is a dangerous drug pursuant
to Code section 4022. It is a Food and Drug Administration (FDA) Schedule C-111 controlled
substance pursuant to Code of Federal Regulations section | 308.13(e)2)(). 1t is used to relieve
(}p‘iéid dependence.

16.  Baclofen is not a controlled substance. It is a skeletal muscle relaxant. i
is a dangerous drug pursuant to Code section 4022 and therefore requires a prescription.

17.  Robaxin is not a controlled substance. It is a skeletal muscle mlaﬁant. Itis
a dangerous drug pursuant to Code section 4022 and therefore requires a preseription. |

FIRST CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE

(Gross Negligence)
18. Respondent is subject to disciplinary action under Code section 2234,
subdivision (b), in thal he was grossly negligent in the care and treatment of a patient, The

circuinstances are as follows:

ACCUSATEON NO. (15-2013-229574)
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Patient T.M.' |

19. On June 14, 2013, T M. visited Respondent’s oftice for medical care,
The progress note of the visit was hand written and was difficult to read. The notes recorded the
following: Vital signs: temperature 98.3; blood pressure 118/88; pulse 72; weight 182; Chief
complaint: Suboxone. Exam: General: W/N (well-nourished) Chest, Clear, no rales. Heart: S1-
SZ without murmur, [However, in fact, no exam was performed at the visit in spite of the
progress note charting.] Assessment: Opioid Dependence. Plan: Subutex 8 myg twice daily #60
Baclofen 20 mg twice daily #60. Diet was listed in the notes, however, in fact, it was not
discussed during the visit, |

20. On June 26, 2013, T.M. visited Respondent’s office for medical care a
second time. The patient entered the office and was asked to sign the sign-in sheet by the
receptionist/medical assistant (MA). He was then advised that the visit would cost $100 which he
paid in cash. T.M, was brought to the back office and had his weight and i‘.amjoeratm'e taken.
T.M. told the MA that the medications did not help too much - "not really working.® She said
that it was because "you até used to the heavy stuff.” Respondent entered the exam room and
spent between 3.5 and 4 minutes with the patient. T.M, reminded Respondent that he had
received prescriptions for Subutex [8 mg] and Baclofen on the first visit and stated that they did
“ not help. Initially Respondent said he would increase the Baci()feii,la to three times daily. They
discussed muscle relaxants and Respondent said he does not pregeribe Soma a5 1t is too addicting.
T.M. asked about other treatments for the back. Respondent mentioned $ub0§0ne and T.M., said
he had heard about it and agreed to try it. Respondent said he had a coupon to give him for this.
Respondent. wrote him a prescription for a one month supply of Suboxone and told him, "Don't
come back early." He also prescribed Robaxin, a muscle relaxant, 'T.M. asked the MA which
days they sce pain management patients and she said, "Whenever we need fo." T.M. then left the

exam room and office. The total time in the office was less than 10 minutes. During this visit;

"The names of patients are kepl confidential o protect their privacy rights, and, though
known to Respondent, will be revealed to him upon receipt of a timely request for discovery.
T.M. was an undercover agent.

1)
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» No exam was performed at all

« Minimal history was taken

« No past medical history wag taken

= No discussion of risks/benefits of treatment

+  No questions re pain level scales

+  No questions re functional level scales

« Blood pressure was high — with no comment by Respondent

21.  The progress note for the second visit was hand written and was difficult to
read. The note recorded the following: Vital signs: temperature 98.5; ‘01006 pressure 138/92;
pulse 72; weight 186, Chief complaint: Suboxone. Exam: General: W/N, Chest: Clear, no ‘
rales, Heart: 51-82 without murmur. {In fact, no exam was performed at the visit .iﬁ spite of the
progress note charting.] Assessment: Opioid Dependénce. Plan: Suboxone 8/2 mg twice daily
#60, Robaxin 750 mg twice daily #60. The notes listed a discussion of diet, exercise, and return
in one month, However in fact, these were not discussed during the visit,

27, Respondent’s conduct, as described above, constitutes unprofessional
conduct and represents extreme departures from the standard of care in the treatment of Patient
T.M. as follows:

A.  Respondent engaged in an extreme departure from the standard of care
when he failed to take a-sufficient pain history given théit opioid treatment was tnvolved.
Additional information should have included past medications, treatments, physical therapy, non-
medication treatments and eonsultalions,

B.  Respondent engaged in an extreme departure from the standard of care
when he failed to perform an appropriate phyé.icai exam.

C.  Respondent engaged in an extreme deparfure from the standard of care
when he failed to inquire in detail about the presence or absence of behavioral and psychiatric
issnes and addiction issues.

D Respondent engaged in an extreéme departive from the standard of care
when he failed fo utilize pain or functional scales to assess the efficacy of the irealment,

I
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E  Respondent engaged in an extreme departure from the standard of care
when he failed to obtain outside past medical records,

I, Respondent engaged in an extreme departure from the standard of care
when he failed to utilize medical monitoring urine drug sereens and obtain CURES reports.
Urine screens would help ensure that the patient was not using additional controlled substances or
diverting medications, and would verify that Subutex was being used. The CURES report would
help ensure the patient was not obtaining medications from mulliple physicians.

G.  Respondent engaged in an extreme departure from the standard of care
when he failed to properly document both visits.

H.  Respondent engaged in an extreme departure from the standard of care
when he failed to create legible progress notes,

L Respondent engaged in an extreme departure from the standard of care
when he included in his progress notes details that did not occur at the visit, including the exam
and some of the patient education.

J. Respondent engaged in an extreme departure from the standard of care
when he Tailed to document a discussion with the patient of the risks and benefits of the use
cnntzd_ﬂed substances.

K.  Respondent engaged in an extreme departure from the standard of care
when he failed to obtain and/or document FDA approval for his prescribing of Suboxone and
Subutex,

L. Respondent engaged in an extreme departure from the standard of care
when he Regpondent failed to perform and docuiment an adequate history and physical exam prior
to refilling controlled substances.

SECOND CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE

(Repeated Negligent Acts)

23. Respondent is subject to disciplinary action under Code section 2234,
subdivision (c), in that he was repeatedly negligent in the care and treatment of a patient. The
i1/
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facts and circumstances alleged above in the First Cause for Discipline are incorporated here as if
fully set forth,

A.  Respondent engaged in a departure from the standard of care when he
failed 1o take a sufficient pain history given that opioid trealment was involved., Additional
information should have included past medications, treatments, physical therapy, non-medication
treatments and consultations. | '

B.  Respondent engaged in a departure from the standard of care when he
failed to perform an a_pp.r.opriate physical exam,

C.  Respondent engaged fﬁ a departure from the standard of care when he
failed to inquire in ‘demii about the presence or absence of behavioral and psychiatric issues and
addiction issues. '

D Respondent engagéci in a departure from the standard of care when he
failed to utilize pain or functional scales to assess the efficacy of the treatment.

| E  Respondent engaged ina de;ﬁarttll‘e'iifom the standard of care when he
failed to obtain outside past medical records. |

F.  Respondent engaged in a departure from the standard of care when he
failed to utitize medical mouitoring urine drug screens and obtain CURES reports, Urine screens
would help ensure that the patient was not using additional controlled substances or diverting
médicatiaﬁs, and would verify that Subutex was being used. The CURES report would help
ensure the patient was not obtaining medications from multiple physicians, |

(. Respoudent engaged in a departure from the standard of care when he
failed to properly docurnent both visits.

- H. Respondent engaged in a departure from the standard of care when he
failed to create legible progress notes.

I, Respondent engagedina dépaﬁure i";:(:m_ the standard of care whé:n he
included in his progress notes details that did not occur at the visit, including the exam and some
of the patient education.

1
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I Respondent engaged in a departure from the standard of care when he
failed to document-a discussion with the patient of the risks and benefits of the use conircl]ed
substances, | |

K.  Respondent engaged in a departure from the standard of care when he
failed to obtain and/or document FDA approval for his prescribing of Suboxone and Subutex.

L.  Respondent engaged in a departure from the standard of care when he
Respondent failed to perform and doéument an adequate history and physical exam prior to
refilling controlled substances. . | |

THIRD CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE
(Failure to Maintain Adcquate and Accurate Rec.ords)

24, Respondent is subject to disciplinary action under Code section 2266 in
that he faiied to maintain adequate and 'ac-cumte records relating to the provision of medical
services to Patient T.M. The fact and circumstances alleged above are inéor_porated here as if
fully set forih.

FOURTH CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINK

(Prescribing Controlled Substances Without a Physical Exam)

25, Respondent is subject to disciplinary action under Code section 2242 in
that he prescribed controlled substances to Patient T.M. without first performing an appropriate
physieal examination. The facts and cireumstances alleged above are incorporated here as if fully
set forth.

(Unlawful Practice of Medicine)

26, Respondent is subject to disciplinary action under Céde section 2052,
subdivision (a), in that he pi'escribed controlled substances and daﬁgcrous drugs fo Patient T.M.
while his certificate was suspended. The circumstances are ag follows.

27. On or about March 13, 2012, a Department of Consumer Affairs (DCA)

30-day notice of infent to suspend his physician’s and surgeon’s certificate was sent to

Respondent for failing to pay child support. On or about April 17,2012, a suspension/denial

14
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notice was sent to Respondent. On April 18, 2012, Respondent’s physician’s and surgeon’s
certificate went into suspension/denial status. The denied status was tifted on August 8, 2013,

28,  'From or about Aprﬁ £8, 2012, until about August 8, 2013, Respondent
knowingly continued to practice medicine while his physician’s and surgeon’s certificate was '
suspended or under denied status.

SIXTH CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE

(Excessive Prescribing)
29, Respondent is subject to disciplinary action under Code section 725 in
that he z-:ngaged' in clearly excessive treatment or prescribing in his care and treatment of Patient
T.M. The facts and circumstances alleged above are incorporated here as if fully set forth.

SEVENTH CAUSE FOR DISCIPLINE

(Unprotessional Conduct)

30. Respondent is subject {o disciplinary action under Code section 2234 in
that he engaged in unprofessional conduct in care and treatment of Patients T.M. The facts and
circumstances alleged above in paragraphs 18 through 29 are incorporated here as if fully set
forth. In addition, the following circmnﬁtmweg are alleged.

| 31. On or about May 13, 2013, it was reported to the Boax.*ci by the Manager of

the Communicable Diseases Office, Ventura County Public Health (VCPH) that Respondent has

4 large high-risk patient elientele and has changed the name of his business numerous times. A

high number of Respondent’s patients have sexually transmitted diseases (STD) and sre being
over-freated. The over-treatment or m;derdreatmmwt of these- STDs has the possibility to build
immunity (o the strains. The California Code of Regulation (CCR) Title 17, sectio_n 2500,
mandates that every healtheare provider and/or physician report the listed communicable diseases
(e.g., HIV, gonococcal infections, and syphilis) within seven calendar days. Failure 1o rapoﬂ isa
citable offense and subject to civil penalty.

32.  From on about August 2012 to May 13, 2013, VCPH had extreme
Vdif {fculty obtaining reporting information from Respondent and/or his medical facility. On
numefous occasigns, Respondent refused to provide the required information within the time

15
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limits. Respondent stated that he is a doctor and can do what he wants to do. Respondent even
locked up the fax machine in his office and instructed his staff not to provide the reportable
information until he gives them permission. Additionally, a Ventura County Health Officer went

to Respondent’s office in an attempt to obtain the reportable information for February and March
P P

12013; however, Respondent refused to comply with the request.

33.  Respondent’s conduct, as described above, constitutes unprofessional
conduct inasmuch as Resp{;hdent failed to report communi{:gble diseases information to the
VCPH, after numerous requests.
DISCL

INARY CONSIDERATION

34, Ou or about March 13,2013, the Board issued Citation Order
No. 24-2013-230477 against Respondent.
"
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WHEREFORE, Complainant request that a hearing be held on the matters herein
alleged, and that following the hearing, the Medical Board of California issue a decision:

1. Revoking or suspending Physician’s and Surgeon’s Certificate Number

A45536, issued to KIANSI BLAISE BONIL, M.D;

2. Revoking, suspending or denying approval of his authority 1o supervise
physician assistants, pursuant to section 3527 of the Code;

3. Ordering him 1o p.a}; the Medical Board of California, if placed on
probation, the cost of probation monitoring; and

4, Taking such other and further action as deemed necessary and proper.

DATED: Janwaxy 19, 2016

*

KIMBERLY KARCHMEYER //
" Execwtive Director

Medical Board of California

Depariment of Consumer Affairs

State of Caiifornia

Complainant

L.A2013607805
1820983 doex
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~ BEFORE THE
MEDICAL BOARD OF CALIFORNIA
DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS

STATE OF CALIFORNIA

in the Matter of the Accusation Against: )

)

Kiansi Blaise Boni, M.D, )]
3 Case No, 05-2013-229574

Physician's and Surgeon's )

Cerlificate No. A 45536 )

)

Petitioner )

)

)

ORDER DENYING PETITION FOR RECONSIDERATION

The Petition filed by Kiansi Blaise Bonti, M.D., for the reconsideration of the decision in the
above-entitled matter having been read and considered by th@ Medical Board of California, is
hereby denied. '

This Decision remains effective at 5:00 p.m. on May 18 2017.

ot

Jamie Wefght, J.D., Chair
Panel A ‘

IT IS SO ORDERED: May 16, 2017,






